II. 	 ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment No.1. The Circuit Court erred when it held that PPG, the executive rights 

holder, did not have the exclusive right to negotiate the terms and conditions of the lease for the 

Subject Tract. 

Assignment No.2. The Circuit Court erred when it held that PlaintiffslRespondents 

(the Theiss Heirs), who only held a non-participating royalty interest, owned the oil and gas in 

place on the Subject Tract and maintained a right to develop the Subject Tract. 

Assignment No.3. The Circuit Court erred when it held that the cross-conveyance 

theory, rather than the contractual theory, applied to determine whether the unitization of the 

Subject Tract required the consent of the PlaintiffslRespondents (the Theiss Heirs). 

III. 	 STATEMENTOF THE CASE 

A. 	 Factual Background. 

1. The Deeds and Executive Right. By deed dated October 2, 1946 (the "1946 

Deed"), non-parties MabeU Theiss, Ada Parsons and Jesse Parsons (collectively, "Grantors") 

transferred to non-party John Wenzel all of their right, title and interest to a certain tract of 

property in Marshall County, West Virginia, containing approximately 105.9 acres (the "Subject 

Tract"). (Appendix Record ("A.R.") 295-97.) However, the Grantors excepted and reserved 

from the conveyance a one-eighth (1/8) royalty interest in the oil and gas produced from the 

tract. (A.R. 296.) In connection with the reservation, the Grantors explicitly conveyed to John 

Wenzel the right to lease the Subject Tract for oil and gas purposes (the "Executive Right"!). 

(A.R. 296.) In particular, the 1946 Deed states, 

1 As discussed in Section VI, (C), 1, below, "executive right" is a term of art in oil and gas jurisprudence 
that describes an exclusive right to lease property out ofwhich the right is carved. See generally Section 
VI, (C), infra, and Donahue v. Bills, 172 W. Va. 354, 305 S.E.2d 311 (1983). 
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There is also excepted and reserved the one-eighth (1/8) of the oil 
and gas underlying said land, which exception includes the one
sixteenth (1/16) of the oil and gas heretofore reserved by Elbert L. 
Sims, with the right to the party of the second part [Wenzel] to 
lease said land for oil and gas purposes and receive any and all 
delay rentals that may be received under and by virtue of any lease 
executed by him, his heirs or assigns, covering said land. 

(A.R. 296.) 

The Executive Right explicitly referenced in the 1946 Deed was first referenced in a prior 

deed in the chain oftitle. Pursuant to a deed dated November 6, 1933 (the "1933 Deed") (A.R. 

336-338), the Subject Tract was transferred to MabeU Theiss and Ada Parsons along with 

the exclusive right, power and authority to and in the party of the 
second part herein, their heirs, personal representatives and 
assigns, to lease said land, including the oil and gas here excepted, 
for oil and gas purposes. 

(A.R. 337.) 

PiaintiffsJRespondents2 (the "Theiss Heirs") are the successors by intestate succession to 

MabeU Theiss' interest.3 Collectively, the Theiss Heirs hold a one-fourth (1/4) non-participating 

royalty interest in any royalties paid for oil and gas produced from the Subject Tract.4 (A.R. 34, 

36,95, 178,280,513-14.) DefendantlRespondent PPG Industries, Inc. ("PPG") is the successor 

2 Joyce Contraguerro, Edward Minor, Rose Hill, Janice Taylor, Danial Darrah, Dave Darrah, Carmalou 
Darrah, Kim Blacke, Joseph Darrah, Robbie Darrah, Kellie Darrah Haker, Theodore Minor, Harley 
Darrah, Orion Darrah, Jr., Claray Yoho, Lona Minor, Karen Walenciez, Johnathon Minor, Joshua Minor, 
and Tiffany Minor. (A.R. 26.) 

3 The parties agree, and the Circuit Court found, that the Theiss Heirs do not derive any interest from Ada 
Parsons; their interests are solely derived from Mabel Theiss. (A.R. 3,4.) 

4 As a result of prior conveyances and rules of construction that are not at issue, the parties agree that the 
Theiss Heirs hold a one-fourth non-participating royalty interest. (A.R. 34, 36, 95, 178,280,513-14.) As 
discussed in Section VI, (D), below, a "non-participating royalty interest" is a term of art in oil and gas 
jurisprudence that describes a right to receive proceeds from the production of oil and gas from a certain 
tract, but such right does not include actual ownership of the oil and gas in place under the Subject Tract 
or the right to develop the Subject Tract. See generally Section VI, (D), infra, and Davis v. Hardman, 
148 W. Va. 82, 133 S.E.2d 77 (1963). 
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in title to the oil and gas interests conveyed in the 1946 Deed, including the Executive Right. 

(AR. 36, 73, 95, 100, 179,264,285,483,514.) 

2. The Lease. Exercising its Executive Right, PPG (the lessor) entered into an Oil 

and Gas Lease and Operations Agreement with petitioner Gastar Exploration Inc. ("Gastar"), 

dated February 25,2011 (the "Lease"). (AR. 4, 549-613.) PPG and Gastar are the only parties 

to the Lease, and the Lease covers 3,285.68 acres, including the 105.9 acres of the Subject Tract 

from which the Theiss Heirs' one-fourth non-participating royalty interest arises. (AR. 4, 36, 

309, 325, 326.) 

Pursuant to the Lease, PPG leased to Gastar the exclusive right to develop PPG's 

interests in certain property, including the Subject Tract: 

[PPG] , for valuable consideration, including the payment of the 
agreed lease bonus . . . hereby grants, leases and lets the Leased 
Premises exclusively to [Gastar] ... for the sole purpose of 
exploring for Oil and Gas in the Marcellus Shale Formation ... 
drilling, producing and operating Gas Wells or Oil Wells for 
recovering, removing and marketing Oil, Gas, and all associated 
Hydrocarbons from the Marcellus Shale Formation, and all product 
produced therewith or which may be derived therefrom 

(A.R. 559.) In return, Gastar is obligated to pay a royalty rate of twenty-one percent (21 %) of 

the sales price of all hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from the leased premises. (A.R. 

585.) In connection with its exclusive right to develop the property, PPG (the lessor) granted to 

the Gastar (the lessee) "the right and power to pool or unitize parts of the Leased Premises with 

other lands or leases." (A.R. 584.) The Lease provides that "Royalty on production of 

Hydrocarbons from a Pooled Horizontal Well Tract shall be reduced to the proportion that the 

amount of the Leased Premises acreage placed within the Pooled Horizontal Well Tract bears to 

the total acreage in the Pooled Horizontal Well Tract." (A.R. 584.) In the Lease, Gastar 

"covenants that it will act in a prudent and workmanlike manner to develop the Leased Premises 

3 
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by making bona fide efforts to penetrate and produce from the Marcellus Shale Formation where 

it is reasonably likely to be capable of producing Hydrocarbons in Paying Quantities." (A.R. 

589.) 

3. The Pooled Unit. Following execution of the Lease, Gastar recorded a 

Designation ofPooled Unit ("Unit Designation"). (A.R. 614.) The Unit Designation provides 

that 

it is necessary and desirable to pool, unitize, and combine the 
Leases listed on Exhibit A ... for the production of all oil, gas, 
condensate and all other related hydrocarbon products covered by 
and that may be under the Leases, as said Leases cover, affect and 
pertain to any part of the Lands and formations included within 
that 700.00 acre unit ... so as to form a single operating unit for 
the exploration, drilling, development and production of oil, gas, 
condensate and all other related hydrocarbon products ... 

(A.R. 614.) 

In accordance with the "power and authority granted by the terms and provisions of the 

Leases," Gastar pooled the interests that they leased, including the Subject Tract,S to form a 

"pooled and unitized area known as the WaynelLily Unit." (A.R. 614.) The WaynelLily Unit 

contains 700 acres and was created for the exploration, development and production of the oil, 

gas, condensate, and any other related hydrocarbons from the property in the unit. (A.R. 614.) 

Pursuant to the Unit Declaration, each royalty and overriding royalty owner shall be 

compensated based on their pro rata share ofownership in each tract within the WaynelLily Unit 

5 It should be noted that as a result of a prior conveyance in the chain of title, the 1946 Deed only 
conveyed a 112 interest in the oil and gas in place underlying the Subject Tract to John Wenzel (PPG's 
predecessor in interest). The other 1/2 interest in the oil and gas in place was conveyed through the heirs 
of John McHenry and later leased by Gastar in a separate transaction. Gastar subsequently included this 
112 interest in Unit Designation and the WaynelLily Unit. (A.R. 327-29, 614-25.) These facts do not 
impact the analysis of the matters at issue. 
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and in the proportion of their tract acreage contribution to the total amount of acreage included in 

the unit.6 (A.R. 615.) 

Pursuant to the Lease and the Unit Designation, as amended, Gastar drilled and 

completed eight horizontal oil and gas wells in the WaynelLily Unit, all of which are producing 

from the Marcellus Shale Formation. (A.R. 303, 342-49.) Plats ofcertain wells indicate that they 

penetrate the Subject Tract. (A.R. 201-05.) Gastar requested the Theiss Heirs to execute 

ratification agreements confirming their interests pursuant to the Lease and the Unit Designation, 

as amended, but the Theiss Heirs refused. (A.R. 356.) Gastar is holding in suspense the 

production royalties representing the Theiss Heirs' one-fourth non-participating royalty interest 

pending resolution of this matter. (A.R. 354-55.) 

B. Procedural Background. 

On or about June 6, 2014, the Theiss Heirs initiated the underlying action in the Circuit 

Court ofMarshall County, West Virginia, by filing a complaint against Gastar, PPG, Axiall 

Corporation? and the unknown heirs of Ada Parsons. (A.R. 26.) In their initial complaint, the 

Theiss Heirs sought, among other things, a declaration of their rights under the Lease concerning 

the interest "that they hold as to the oil and gas royalties" reserved by Mabell Theiss in the 1946 

Deed. (A.R. 31.) The Theiss Heirs filed an amended complaint seeking the same initial 

declaratory relief, seeking a further declaration that the Lease is invalid "to the extent that it 

permits [Gastar] to pool and/or unitize interests owned by [Gastar] with interests owned by other 

individuals," and asserting a claim against PPG for breach of fiduciary duty. (A.R. 35.) 

6 The Unit Declaration was subsequently amended to modify a description of the oil and gas leases 
covered by the unit designation. No substantive term was amended. (A.R. 620.) 

7 The Theiss Heirs subsequently dismissed with prejudice their claims against Axiall Corporation. (A.R. 
628.) 
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Gastar and PPG answered the amended complaint by denying the claims. (A.R. 44, 57.) 

PPG subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment on the grounds that, among other things, 

it did not breach a "fiduciary duty to any of the [Theiss Heirs] (assuming such a fiduciary duty 

even exists)." (A.R. 70, 72.) The Theiss Heirs filed a combined motion for summary judgment 

and response to PPG's motion for summary jUdgment. (A.R. 176.) The Theiss Heirs' summary 

judgment motion sought, among other things, a declaration that "the pooling and unitization 

clause, at least as it relates to the 105.9 acre tract and the [Theiss Heirs] one-fourth interest in 

that tract, should be declared void until such time as the [Theiss Heirs] consent and authorize 

those operations." (A.R. 191-92,483.) Gastar subsequently filed its own summary judgment 

motioI?- seeking a declaration that the consent of the Theiss Heirs was not required to effectuate 

the Lease or the pooling or unitization ofthe Subject Tract and seeking judgment as a matter of 

law that it did not violate any rights of the Theiss Heirs in entering into the Lease or creating and 

operating the WaynelLily Unit. (A.R. 262, 277.) 

On February 10,2016, the Circuit Court heard oral argument on the motions and solicited 

a contemporaneous exchange of competing orders on the motions filed by the Theiss Heirs and 

Gastar. (A.R. 470, 513, 533.) PPG had previously submitted its proposed findings of fact, 

conclusions of law, and order on its summary judgment motion. (A.R. 241) 

C. The Circuit Court's Order. 

On April 1, 2016, the Circuit Court issued its Order Regarding Motions for Summary 

Judgment (the "Order"). (A.R. 3.) The Order contained both findings of fact and conclusion of 

law sections. (A.R. 3, 9, 11.) In the Order's concluding paragraphs, the Court granted the Theiss 

Heirs' motion for summary judgment "with regard to the existence of fiduciary duties and the 

6 




issue ofpooling without consent," and conversely denied PPG and Gastar's motions for 

summary judgment. 8 (A.R. 25.) In particular, the Order stated 

[The Theiss Heirs] have, however, met their burdens in 
establishing that they were owed fiduciary duties by [PPG] and 
[pPG] did not have the authority to authorize [Gastar] to pool [the 
Theiss Heirs'] mineral interests with other unrelated peoples (sic) 

interests into a pooling and production unit. 


Therefore, the pooling and unitization clause contained in the 

[Lease] and the WaynelLilly (sic) Production unit created under 
the authority thereof, is invalid and void until such time as the 
[Theiss Heirs] consent to and authorize those operations. 

(A.R.24.) 

The Circuit Court held that "West Virginia does recognize the existence of a fiduciary 

relationship between executive rights holders and non-participating royalty interest holders and 

that the executive rights holders will be held to 'strict fiduciary standards.'" (A.R. 13.) The 

Court, however, did not fmd that any strict fiduciary duty was breached. The Court stated, 

"Questions of fact exist as to whether [PPG's] actions in the negotiation and execution of the 

lease terms which the [Theiss Heirs] complain of constitute breaches of the 'strict fiduciary 

standards' that it owed to [the Theiss Heirs]." (A.R. 14.) Moreover, the Circuit Court held that it 

could not rule, as a matter oflaw, that Gastar "owed a duty to the [the Theiss Heirs] and/or 

violated any such duty in this matter," and that proceedings shall continue as to those issues. 

(A.R.25.) Among others, the Court found, as facts, that the Theiss Heirs "collectively hold a 1/4 

ownership interest and a 114 non-participating royalty interest" in the Subject Tract. (A.R. 3,23.) 

8 The Court denied Gastar's summary judgment motion with one exception that is not relevant to the matters at issue 
(Gastar asserted, and the Theiss Heirs conceded, that the Theiss Heirs' interests are not derived from Ada Parsons). 
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IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court's Order should be reversed for three reasons. First, the Circuit Court 

improperly divested from PPG, the holder of the Executive Right, the exclusive right and power 

to negotiate the terms and conditions of a lease for the Subject Tract. This Court has previously 

recognized, and embraced, the power of the executive right. By voiding the pooling and 

unitization clause in the Lease, the Unit Designation and the WaynelLily Unit operations absent 

the Theiss Heirs' consent, the Circuit Court effectively granted an executive right power to the 

Theiss Heirs. Moreover, this Court routinely holds that where language in a deed is 

unambiguous, it must be applied. There is no dispute that the 1946 Deed conveyed the 

Executive Right. By requiring the Theiss Heirs' consent to effectuate the Lease and unitized 

operations, the Circuit Court disregarded the clear intent of the Grantors in the 1946 Deed. 

Second, the Circuit Court improperly provided the Theiss Heirs, holders of a non

participating royalty interest, with the right and power to develop the Subject Tract. The Circuit 

Court failed to distinguish the difference between an owner of oil and gas in place and an owner 

of a royalty interest. The Theiss Heirs concede that they are only royalty interest holders, not 

owners of the oil and gas in place. By requiring the Theiss Heirs' consent to validate the Lease, 

the Unit Designation, and the Wayne/Lily Unit operations, the Circuit Court provided the Theiss 

Heirs with development rights in contravention of this Court's prior decision holding that royalty 

interest holders do not possess development rights. 

Third, the Circuit Court erroneously applied the cross-conveyance theory in holding that 

the unitization of the Subject Tract required the consent of the Theiss Heirs. This Court 

previously rejected the cross-conveyance theory and established that the contractual theory 

applies to unitization agreements in West Virginia. Other states and commentators have 
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similarly rejected the cross-conveyance theory. Moreover, the remedy imposed by the Circuit 

Court (voiding in their entirety the pooling and unitization provision of the Lease, the Unit 

Designation, and the WaynelLily operations thereunder) is unprecedented and unsupported. 

Courts applying the cross-conveyance theory do not impose such draconian remedies. Instead, 

the appropriate remedy, assuming that West Virginia precedent adopting the contractual theory is 

not followed, should be limited to the Theiss Heirs' interests alone, not the entire unitization 

provision of the Lease or Unit Designation, which involve thousands of acres and hundreds of 

property owners. 

As a result of these errors, either standing alone or operating together, the Circuit Court's 

Order voiding the pooling and unitization provision of the Lease, the Unit Designation, and 

WaynelLily Unit operations, absent the Theiss Heirs' consent, should be reversed. 

v. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Gastar 

respectfully requests that this Court grant oral argument under Rule 19(a)(1). The Circuit Court 

disregarded settled law from this Court regarding the executive right, rights of deed grantors to 

convey their interests, the absence of development rights for royalty interest holders, and the 

contractual theory of unitization. 

This case is also appropriate for Rule 20(a) oral argument because it involves issues of 

first impression and of fundamental public importance. The Circuit Court's adoption of the 

cross-conveyance theory of unitization imposes fundamentally new and different oil and gas 

jurisprudence in West Virginia. This issue affects the oil and gas industry as a whole. For these 

reasons, oral argument is proper. 
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VI. ARGUMENT 

A. Jurisdiction. 

The Order granted the Theiss Heirs' motion for summary judgment on their declaratory 

judgment claim against Gastar and denied Gastar's competing motion for summary judgment on 

the Theiss Heirs' declaratory jUdgment claim. "Where an order granting summary judgment to a 

party completely disposes of any issues of liability as to that party, the absence of language 

prescribed by Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure indicating that "no just 

reason for delay" exists and "directi[ng] ... entry ofjudgment" will not render the order 

interlocutory and bar appeal provided that this Court can determine from the order that the trial 

court's ruling approximates a fmal order in its nature and effect." Syl. Pt. 2, Durm v. Heck's Inc., 

184 W. Va. 562, 401 S.E.2d 908 (1991); Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 213 W. Va. 

80, 100,576 S.E.2d 807,827 (2002) ("Likewise, where, as in the case sub judice, the order 

denying one party's motion for summary judgment simultaneously grants summary judgment to 

another party, such an order is final and appealable. In this regard, we have observed that "[a] 

motion for summary judgment which is granted ... is an appealable final order. This is so 

because an order qualifies as a final order when it ends the litigation on the merits and leav~s 

nothing for the court to do but execute the judgment" (internal citations and quotations omitted)). 

An immediate appeal of the Order is proper. 

B. Standard of Review. 

A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, Davis v. 

Foley, 193 W. Va. 595,596,457 S.E.2d 532,533. Similarly, "A circuit court's entry ofa 

declaratory judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 3, Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608, 466 

S.E.2d 459 (1995). As the Cox Court explained, "because the purpose of a declaratory judgment 
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action is to resolve legal questions, a circuit court's ultimate resolution in a declaratory judgment 

action is reviewed de novo." Cox, 195 W. Va. at 612, 466 S.E.2d at 463. Concerning findings of 

fact in a declaratory judgment action, this Court has stated that "any determinations of fact made 

by the circuit court in reaching its ultimate resolution are reviewed pursuant to a clearly 

erroneous standard." Mountain Lodge Ass'n v. Crum & Forster Indem. Co., 210 W. Va. 536, 

545,558 S.E.2d 336,345 (2001) (quoting Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459 

(1995» (internal citations omitted). However, "ostensible findings of fact, which entail the 

application of law or constitute legal jUdgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations,

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