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

acre non-participating royalty interest exists. If a well is drilled on that 10 acre tract, the non

participating royalty interest holder would be entitled to 100% of the production royalties 

attributable to that well. If, however, that 10 acre tract was pooled with another neighboring 

21 West Virginia recognizes the venerable common law doctrine of capture: [Oil and gas] belong to the 
owner of the land, and are part of it, so long as they are on it or in it subject to his control; but when they 
escape and go into other land, or come under another's control, the title ofthe fonner owner is gone. If an 
adjoining owner drills his own land, and taps a deposit of oil or gas, extending under his neighbor's field, 
so that it comes into his well, it becomes his property. Energy Dev. Corp. v. Moss, 214 W. Va. 577, 589, 
591 S.E.2d 135, 147 (2003). The Energy Development case is also support for the detennination that 
operations which were not and could not have been contemplated at the time of a particular conveyance 
are not pennirted under the conveyance. 
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tract of land totaling 30 acres, the production would have to split between the combined 40 acres 

of the two properties. The non-participating royalty interest holder would then only receive 25% 

of the royalties attributable to that well while the owner of the 30 acre tract, where the well is not 

located, would rec.eive 75% of the royalties produced from the well. In 1946, when the 

executive right was created in this case, the parties could not and would not have contemplated 

anything other than vertical production wells. It is significant in this case that five separate oil 

and gas wells penetrate substantial portions of the mineral interest at issue in this case. Today, 

each piece of property where horizontal production occurs could be considered a drill site. 

There is no language in the 1946 deed which demonstrates that Mabel Sims ever intended 

that any executive would have the right or power to change her ownership royalty interest. With 

that understanding it is clear that the trial court did not do anything to limit the granting rights 

which created the ~xecutive, but instead served to protect the nature and extent of the rights 

actually reserved by the grantor. There are many facts which would need to be determined to 

decide whether or not a non-participating royalty interest holder might provide or withhold their 

consent to a pooling agreement. Defendant Gastar totally took that decision away from the 

Appellees in this c~se. The Court's ruling was an acknowledgment that oil and gas operators 

cannot summarily take those types of decisions away from an NPRl holder. 

A. There is no implied right to pool 

It is also important to note that this Court has never found there to be any implied right to 

pool oil and gas interests. Texas has directly addressed the issue and specifically found that 

"[a]bsent express authority, a lessee has no power to pool the lessor's interests with the interests 

of others. Southeastern Pipe Line Co. v. Tichacek, 997 S.W.2d 166, 170 (Tex.1999); Luecke 38 
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S.W.3d at 640. 'For pooling to be valid, it must be done in accordance with the method and 

purposes specified in the lease.' Killingsworth, 403 S.W.2d at 327-28." Union Gas Corp. v. 

Gisler, 129 S.W.3d 145, 151 (Tex. App. 2003). 

The closest that this Court has come to ruling on the any implied right to pool involved 

an argument by an oil and gas lessor that an oil and gas lessee/operator had a duty to institute 

pooling between the lessors tract and a separate adjoining tract owned by another individual, but 

under lease with the same lessee. As a result of that case, there is Syllabus Point law in this state 

that there is no such duty to pool. "Although an oil and gas lessee, who also is lessee of adjoining 

land, has a duty to avoid the fraudulent or evasive drainage of the property of one to the 

detriment of the other, there presently is no implied duty to unitize or 'pool' the leasehold of the 

one with the leasehold of the other[.]" Croston v. Emax Oil Col, Syl. Pt. 6 195 W.Va. 86 (1995). 

Certainly if there is no implied duty to pool, even in the face of the drainage of lands to the 

benefit of one lessor and the detriment of another, it cannot and should not be said that there is a 

implied right to pool. 

Whether the basis for pooling is considered to be a formal or theoretical "cross

conveyance" of mineral interests or just a contract among parties, the same result follows. All of 

the royalties from the properties are pooled and shared amongst the various interests without any 

regard to which properties the production came from or where the oil and gas production wells 

are located. There should be no difference whether a court considers this to operate under a 

contractual theory or as an effectual "cross conveyance" of interests. That being said, Gastar is 

simply wrong when it asserts that West Virginia has already adopted the contractual theory of 

pooling. 
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B. 	 West Virginia did not adopt a purely contractual view of pooling in Boggess v. 

Milam 

Boggess v. J:iilam, 127 W.Va. 654 (1945), which Gastar claims to be controlling, does 

not address the issues at play in this case. Most significantly, Boggess did not in any way deal 

with an executive rights holder making pooling decisions on behalf of non-participating royalty 

interests. In that case the executive rights and the royalty interests were held by the same 

individuals. Furthermore, that case did not include the execution of oil and gas lease agreements 

which provided for pooling andlor unitization. After the subject oil and gas lease agreements were 

entered into some of the parties entered into a second and subsequent "so-called unitization 

agreement[.]" Boggess, who owned a 1110th mineral interest in a 116 acre tract, did not enter into 

the lease agreement and did not enter into the "so-called unitization agreement[.]" No wells were 

drilled on or penetrated the 116 acre tract, but a well was drilled on a 53 acre adjacent tract included 

in the "unitization agreement." Boggess had been offered the opportunity to join in the unitization 

agreement, but declined to do so. Despite not owning any interest in the 53 acre tract, Boggess 

claimed that production from that property violated his property interests through the unitization 

agreement. This Court, therefore, took the opportunity to protect the royalty interests of owners of 

the 5 3 acre interest. 

Upon the facts of that case, the Court determined that the rights at issue were contractual in 

nature and that Mr. Boggess had no contractual relationship with the 53 acre tract and was not 

affected, or to be included, in the subsequent unitization of that property with tlie 116 acre tract. 

The well was not drilled on the property in which Boggess owned his interest. Under the rule of 

capture, even if the well on the 53 acre tract ofland drained gas from the 116 acre tract, there was 

no authority for Boggess to claim any interest in the production from the 53 acre tract because he 
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never signed a lease or agreement involving the 53 acre tract. Boggess had no legal or equitable 

right to the production from the 53 acres. On those limited facts, the Boggess court found that ''the 

so-called unitization agreement [did] not affect a merger of title." That is far from adopting a bright 

line rule that pooling in West Virginia is contractual in nature. 

The facts of this case are substantially different. This case deals with the exercise of 

executive rights which are, clearly, subject to strict fiduciary duties. Also, here there were no 

separate and subsequent unitization contracts. The pooling and unitization language is actually 

included in the original lease agreement which provides Defendant Gastar with its interest in the 

properties, and serves to create, just as in the Illinois and Texas cases, a shared ownership in the oil 

and gas produced from the production unit. The language of the lease agreement itself uses the 

word "grant" when giving Gastar its authority to pool. This "grant" of rights is contained within a 

lease agreement, which under West Virginia law is both contract and a conveyance. McCullough 

Oil, Inc. v. Rezek, Syl. Pt. 2, 176 W.Va. 638, 346 S.W.2d 788 (1986) This Court should agree 

with the courts of Texas, Illinois, California, and Mississippi on the facts of this case. The 

Appellees surmise that PPG and Gastar believed that West Virginia would follow such course as 

evidenced by Gastar's efforts to get the Plaintiffs to individually ratify and and approve the 

PPG/Gastar lease agreement. If they did not need the approval, why then would Gastar seek very 

specific ratification of its actions? 

C. 	The Out of Jurisdiction Cases Cited by Appellant Gastar Are Factually 
Distinguishable and othenvise Poorly Considered 

Cases cited by Gastar in support of the "contract" theory of pooling are poorly considered 

and/or simply not applicable to the facts present in this case. One such case was Rice Bros. Mineral 
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Corp. v. Talbot, 717 S.W.2d 515 (KY. 1986). Gastar presented very little facts relating to the Rice 

Bros. decision. The trial court below provided a very good analysis of Rice Bros and explained why 

it could not apply.22 Most importantly, Rice Bros. dealt with an over-riding royalty interest, not a 

non-participating royalty interest. A non-participating royalty interest is a valuable real property 

interest that vests as soon as it is created. One Stick in the Bundle: Characterizing 

Nonparticipating Royalty Interests under West Virginia Law, 117 W.Va. L. Rev. 519 (2014) 

Andrew Graham, Allison J. Farrell, Lauren A. Williams and Amber M. Moore. As the Court 

stated below, the Appellees here "are indeed 'owners' of an oil and gas interest, and not simply 

holders of an overriding royalty interest." Additionally, Kentucky had a statute which directly 

applied and which dictated the result. 

Gastar also cited LeBlanc v. Haynesville Mercantile Company, Inc., 230 La. 299, 88 So.2d 

377 (1956). Beyond the fact that Louisiana's civil code system of jurisprudence is significantly 

different from the general common law of West Virginia, the LeBlanc case is factually 

distinguishable and generally poorly considered. In that case an individual holding the power to 

lease a royalty owner's interest attempted to claim that the royalty owner's interest had lapsed, or 

prescribed, after 10 years. This is despite the fact that the person with the power to lease had, in 

fact, entered into lease agreements and amendments and oil and gas production had been started 

from properties included in a unit cover the land at issue. Rather than fmd that the royalty interest 

holder lost had lost his interest, the Court there found that the actions of leasing, pooling and 

production prevented prescription. So, interestingly, that case dealt with a factually scenario where 

an executive sought to have a court declare that the executive itself did not have the power to bind 

22 Order on Motions for Summary Judgment at ~~ 72 to 75, A.R. 022 to 023. 
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the non-executive interests to pooling. If the Court had found that to be the case then the royalty 

interest, which was ~lready in production and for which royalties were being placed in escrow, had 

lapsed and the mineral interest owner would have no claim to the royalties. It would not have made 

sense to allow an executive to argue that actions that he had already taken, and importantly which 

were not disputed by the mineral interest holder, were void. The facts of the LeBlanc decision are 

substantially different that this case. 

D. 	 Gastar Could Have and Should Have Sought Consent Before It Drilled and 
Produced 

An oil and gas operator who wishes to pool interests subject to a non-paticipatory interest 

certainly has options at its disposal. Even where leases have already been entered into, it is still 

possible to obtain the necessary agreement of the non-paticipatory interst. "As stated, the rule in 

Texas is that the holder of the executive right has the power to execute oil and gas leases, but 

cannot pool or unitize an outstanding non-participating royalty interest absent joinder or 

ratification by the non-participating royalty interest owner. In situations where a royalty 

reservation predates an oil and gas lease that contains a pooling clause, the lease amounts to a 

proposal or offer by the lessor to the outstanding non-participating royalty interest owner to 

effect or create a community lease and to pool or unitize all of the royalties in all of the tracts 

described in the lease. To successfully ratify the lease, all non-participating royalty owners must 

ratify." James E. Key, The Right to Royalty: Pooling and the Capture of Unburdened Interests, 

17 Tex. Wesleyan L. Rev. 69, 76 (2010). The trial court acknowledged those options and stated 

there is nothing that would have prevented Gastar from reaching out to the Appellees and 
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seeking their consent. The cases from Texas provide a much better, reasoned and practical 

approach which protects the non-participating royalty interests.23 

Gastar was not without options when it decided that it wanted to pool Appellees non

participating royalty interest. It knew about its ability to go out and seek ratification. 

Unfortunately, it attempted to do so months after production from the pooled units began. Had 

Gastar directly approached the Appellees before the well was drilled and advised them of the lease 

and its plans, it is highly likely that this situation would never have arisen. 

23 See Order on Motions for Summary Judgment for the Trial Court's consideration of Ruiz v. Martin, 559 
S.W.2d 839 (Tex. Civ. App. San Antonia 1977, writ refd) and James E. Key, The Right to Royalty: 
Pooling and the Capture of Unburdened Interests, 17 Tex. Wesleyan L. Rev. 69, 76-77 (2010) A.R.017 
to 018. 

The Ruiz case "stands for two propositions: (i) the holder ofthe executive interest does not have 
the power to pool'the interest of a non-participating royalty interest owner absent consent or 
acquiescence, and (ii) a lease by the executive that contains a pooling provision constitutes an 
offer to lease that the non-participating royalty interest owner can reject or accept by timely 
ratification. This oil and gas lease involved three separate tracts totaling 600 acres owned by 
Ruiz. Martin owned an undivided 112 interest in the oil royalties, gas royalties, and royalties in 
other minerals in a 463.8 acre tract, described as Tract 1 in the lease. The royalty was a perpetual, 
non-participating royalty interest, and it was outstanding at the time that the oil and gas lease was 
taken. During the lease term, a producing well was drilled on Tract 2. Ruiz asserted that he was 
entitled to 100% of the royalty from the producing well on Tract 2. Martin asserted that he was 
entitled to a share of the royalty from Tract 2. The trial court entered judgment that Martin was 
entitled to .3865 (112 x 463.8/600) of the royalty on all oil, gas, and other minerals produced from 
the well from and after December 9, 1974, which was the date that Martin alleged to have ratified 
the lease." 

The Court of Appeals affirmed. In support of its holding, the Court of Appeals noted that an 
ordinary oil and gas lease, when executed by all the owners of different mineral interests in two 
or more tracts, effectively pools the royalties payable under the lease. The court then stated that 
the executive holder had the right to execute an oil and gas lease to burden the mineral interest, 
but did not have the authority or power to pool or unitize the royalty interest of the non
participating royalty interest holder without their joinder or ratification. In essence, the oil and gas 
lease amounted to a proposal or offer by the executive holder/lessor to the lessee and the non
participating royalty interest owners to pool or unitize all of the royalties in the tracts subject to 
the lease. Because the non-participating royalty owners timely ratified the lease, they were 
entitled to receive their proportionate share of the royalty produced from the leased premises. 
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E. 	The Court's Decision to Void the Pooling Provision Which was Granted Without 
Consent is not properly before the Court on any of the three assignments of error 
submitted in the Appellant's Brief 

Gastar ends its brief by discussing the nature of the means by which the trial court enforced 

its decision. At page 1 of its brief Gastar asserted three assignments of error. Not one of those 

assignments of error questioned the nature of the relief instituted below. Each of the three 

assignments oferror dealt with facets of the single underlying question i.e., does an executive rights 

holder have the power to pool non-participating royalty interests? By not addressing this issue in an 

assignment of error in its brief, the Appellant should be found to have waived any argument to 

address that issue substantively before the Court on appeal. 

With that being said, the Appellees assert that the trial court took the only means that it 

could to protect the non-participating royalty interest holder in this case. Gastar and PPG are the 

two parties to the lease agreement which authorized the pooling of the respondent's interests and

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